ATTORNEY GENERAL
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

1 Granite Place South
Concord, NH 03301

JOHN M. FORMELLA
ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES T. BOFFETTI
DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL

October 31, 2023

Sent by email
Peter Hoe Burling
20 Lang Road
Cornish, NH 03745

Re:  Right to Know re Troy Merner
Dear Mr. Burling:

The purpose of this letter is to respond to your RSA 91-A right-to-know requests dated
October 16, 2023, which you emailed to the New Hampshire Attorney General’s Office
(the “State™).

Specifically, you requested the following records:

1. All documents which communicated any of the information contained in your
September 18, 2023, and which were directed to any of the following members of
the NH House of Representatives: Speaker Sherman Packard, Majority Leader
Jason Osborne, Deputy Speaker Steven Smith, Rep. Laurie Sanborn, and
Representative Robert Lynn,

2. Any documents such as memos, notes, phone logs etc. reflecting or documenting
the communication of such information to those members of the House.

3. All documents communicating or documenting the communication of any of the
information contained in your September 18 letter to any staff member of the NH

House of Representatives.

You clarified that the scope of your request was limited to between March 22, 2023, and
September 18, 2023.
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As set forth in greater detail below, responsive records are exempt from disclosure under
the law enforcement records exemption set forth in Murray v. N.H. Div. of State Police,
154 N.H. 579 (2006), because the documents were compiled for law enforcement
purposes and disclosure could reasonably be expected to interfere with enforcement
proceedings or constitute an invasion of privacy. Responsive records would additionally
be exempt from disclosure under RSA 91-A:5, IV (exempting from disclosure documents
the disclosure of which would constitute an invasion of privacy); RSA 91-A:5, IX
(exempting from disclosure preliminary drafts, notes, memoranda, and other documents
not in their final form); and RSA 91-A:5, XII (exempting from disclosure records
protected under the attorney-client privilege and work product doctrine).

As described in this Office’s September 18, 2023, letter to Speaker Packard, this Office’s
criminal investigation into former representative Merner is ongoing. To the extent that
this Office communicated with any representative or staff member of the New Hampshire
House of Representatives as part of its ongoing criminal investigation, disclosure of that
information could interfere with ongoing enforcement proceedings by revealing
investigative information, including the identities of potential witnesses.

Additionally, private individuals, whether they are suspects or witnesses, have a strong
interest in not being associated unwarrantedly with alleged criminal activity. This is
particularly true for individuals who provide information to law enforcement agencies
because those individuals could be subjected to embarrassment and harassment for their
cooperation with law enforcement agencies. Public policy requires that individuals may
furnish investigative information to the government with complete candor and without
the understandable tendency to hedge or withhold information out of fear that their names
and the information they provide will later be open to the public. Accordingly, disclosure
of communications between this Office and any representative or staff member would
reasonably be expected to constitute an invasion of privacy.

Sincerely,

/s/ Matthew Conley

Matthew G. Conley

Assistant Attorney General
Civil Bureau

(603) 271-6765
matthew.g.conley(@doj.nh.gov
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ATTORNEY GENERAL
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE

33 CAPITOL STREET
CONCORD, NEW HAMPSHIRE 03301-6397

JAMES T. BOFFETTI
DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL

JOHN M. FORMELLA
ATTORNEY GENERAL

September 18, 2023

Sherman Packard, Speaker of the House
NH House of Representatives

107 North Main Street

Concord, NH 03301

Re:  Troy Merner, Alleged Wrongful Domicile
Dear Speaker Packard:

On March 22, 2023, our Office received a complaint regarding Troy Merner, a current
Representative from Coos District 1. The complaint alleged that Rep. Merner is not domiciled in
Lancaster, New Hampshire or any other town in Coos District 1. This Office conducted an
investigation and concluded that Rep. Merner was not domiciled in Coos District 1 during the
previous legislative session and still is not domiciled within the district. For this reason, he
should be ineligible to represent that district in the General Court. Although this Office is
continuing to investigate issues related to Rep. Memer’s domicile, the New Hampshire
Conslitution provides that the authority (o judge the qualifications of its members rests solely
with the House of Representatives. See N.H. Const., Pt. II, Art. 22. Therefore, this Office is
referring our findings to your attention to take further action on this matter.

I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On March 22, 2023, Kathy Lavoie called this Office to report concern about Rep. Merner
not living in Lancaster. She stated that she had worked as a checkout volunteer at the Lancaster
Town Election, and she observed Rep. Merner vote in that election. She explained that she asked
him whether he lived in Lancaster. Ile replied that he lived ati She knew that
address and its residents and knew that Rep. Merner does not live there. She did not believe he
could produce anything indicating that he lived there. Finally, Ms. Lavoie stated that she spoke
to him in November, 2022, as well when he voted using his formerjjj | | | |  l2ddress even
though he had sold the property two months prior. He told her that he had a “lease back™ and that
he had spoken with this Office about this matter and “there was no issue.” Chief Investigator
Richard Tracy was assigned to investigate this complaint and found the following facts.
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A. Lancaster

Rep. Merner formerly lived in a home at_ Lancaster, NH. The current
owner of . T2y Dubreuil, confirmed that, after the closing of her purchase of
the property on August 26, 2022, she gave Rep. Merner one or two weeks to remove all of his
furniture and other household items from the property. She did not have an agreement with Rep.
Merner allowing him to continue to live in the house for any period of time. Ms. Dubreuil knows
Rep. Merner to live with his wife in “Twin Mountain,” located in Carroll.

B. Carroll. NH.

After selling his_wme, Rep. Merner moved into a home with his wife at

B C-oll, NH. On May 4, 2023, Rep. Merner informed Investigator

Tracy that he lived in Carroll with his wife.
C. Lancaster

Although Rep. Merner has rented an office located at _in Lancaster, he has
not lived at that address. On March 24, 2023, Investigator Tracy traveled t n
Lancaster, and he observed Rep. Merner’s name next to the mailboxes of the building next to
“Apartment C.” Apartment C appeared to be a single office/den-type room with another door on
the opposite corner of the room. Apartment C had bookshelves and a table and chairs, but it did
not have a bed. Subsequently, Investigator Tracy was able to speak with Annie Gould, the
second-floor tenant living in Apartment B. Ms. Gould stated that she never saw Rep. Merner at
the apartment building and that he did not live there or stay overnight.

On May 2, 2023, Investigator Tracy called and spoke with the owner of 80 Elm Street in
Lancaster, Rita Cloutier. Mrs. Cloutier confirmed that Rep. Merner rented the office in the back
of her apartment at 80 Elm Street. She confirmed that the only door that Investigator Tracy
observed in the office led to her apartment and that she allowed Rep. Merner to use her kitchen
and bathroom as needed when he was at the office. She believed Rep. Merner spent about one
day a week at the office, and she has never known him to stay overnight.

Investigator Tracy spoke with Rep. Merner on May 4, 2023. Rep. Merner indicated that
he did not stay overnight at [}  EEBEEEout that he did go in frequently and that he was in
Lancaster most days of the work week. Investigator Tracy pointed out that, as of his re-election
in November of 2022, he represented the towns of Lancaster, Dalton, North Umberland, and
Strafford, meaning that he was not domiciled in any community that he was representing. Rep.
Merner confirmed that he was “not really staying there” when Investigator Tracy asked if he was
living in Lancaster. Although he initially claimed that he “stays occasionally” at
he later stated that he was “not really staying there” and that he “lives in Carroll” with his current
wife.
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I1I. CONCLUSION

There is no reasonable argument that Rep. Merner is domiciled in Lancaster. The current
owners of_ in Lancaster confirmed that he moved out of Lancaster on August 26,
2022, at the latest. Tenants of | |  QEJIin Lancaster, including his landlord, confirm that he
rents the property as an office, and he does not stay the night or otherwise live there. Rep.
Merner confirmed that he lives in Carroll with his wife and stepson and that he does not live in
Lancaster. Despite Rep. Merner being aware that this Office was investigating this matter, Rep.
Merner has continued to act as a representative and has continued to collect milage
reimbursement based on his former Lancaster domicile.

In the event that an elected Representative’s qualifications to hold office are challenged,
Part I1, Article 22 of the State Constitution provides that “[t]he house of representatives...shall
be the judge of the returns, elections, and qualifications, of its members, as pointed out in this
constitution.” Therefore, because the allegations here pertain to Rep. Merner’s qualifications to
hold office, this is a matter that must be handled by the House of Representatives.
Notwithstanding this referral, this Office will continue to investigate Rep. Merner’s activities
that are within our jurisdiction, including, but not limited to, issues related to mileage
reimbursements and an allegation of wrongful voting. These matters will be addressed separately
from this referral.

Sincerely,

Matthew *onley

Assistant Attorney General
Election Law Unit

(603) 271-6765
matthew.g.conley@doj.nh.gov
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(e Lancaster Town Clerk
Lancaster Board of Selectmen
New Hampshire Secretary of State
Kathy Lavoie
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